FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington DC 20463
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSIO
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 MIH) Wi9p 2 ng 19, 2006
MEMORANDUM SE NSI o
TO: v THE COMMISSION
THROUGH:  ROBERT J. COSTA 7@@
» ACTING STAFF DIRECTO
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON
ASSISTANT STAFR/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAM

REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -
2006 APRIL QUARTERLY REPORT

Attached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who either failed to
file or failed to timely file, the 2005 April Quarterly Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C.
434(a). On March 22, 2006, Prior Notice was sent to all authorized committees and their
treasures, informing them that the April Quarterly Report was due on April 15, 2006.
Please note, that due to an administrative oversight, unauthorized committees were not
mailed the Prior Notice for the April Quarterly Report. In an effort to correct this
oversight, an e-mail notification was sent to all unauthorized electronic filers and a
scrolling text message was placed on the FEC website highlighting the April Quarterly
Report due date of April 15, 2006. The April Quarterly Report is required to cover the
time frame from January 1, 2006 through March 31, 2006.

The committees listed in the attached RTB Circulation Report either failed to file
the report or filed the report more than five (5) days after the due date. In accordance
with the schedule of civil money penalties located within 11 CFR §111.43, these

committees should be assessed the civil money penalties hlghhghtcd on the attached
report.

Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers listed on the
RTB Circulation Report violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary

determination that the civil money penalties would be the amounts indicated on the
RTB Circulation Report.

(2) Send the appropriate Reason to Believe letters to the committees.



glo | abed

~ Z3LLINWOD NOLLOY
| . HLINS | TWDILLITOd VORI HLNON|

00°089$ £ez'oTs vz 000z/6/s | 0 | 00%€Ec'zols | NIIHIWY IMYO TYOIQIN SNINISINA| 662107000 | LoVl

, 331 1INNOD NOILYdIOILYYd

. , VOILIOd .SIIAOTAINT
006228 120's2$ 9l goozs | o |oosaseris | 0o samvr "ONI ‘VDININY HLYON 03OVIA| 0LybE0000 | 99vL

JNONID 33LLININOD NOILOV
00005'1$ |  0s8'95$ zl ooozizzy | 1 | oooss'evis 4S3Vr WOILINOd ASSORID 3 NIHOD| 298561000 | Zovl

| |  |uaHdoiswHo| ndwaasor| 8g6L] |
000528 | 291'298 oe oo0zisks | o |ooseo'sozs |  ‘AGINNIN 'AQINNZY| AGINN 30r ¥O4 SNIZILIO| ~55¥222000 | tovl
| 053

N . - - N AZHA3r _ |

0008e$ |  oos'ers 6 ooozmwziy | 0 |oozeriig | a'iooud ovauy| 21922000 | 9svi
Avd |

ALYIHOYd WNLOITIILNI

| | | MHIN NOLLYIDOSSY MV AL¥IdOYd
00°002$ 8vZ0c$ 5z 000z/0L/s | 0 |o000s9'90L | M 1avHON WNLOITIILINI NVOIYIAY|  S€6951000 | Sspt

ona : ASNVY|-
8EE'968: 00Tk SN PELGEP000:
. . 1SI4HO J3LLINNOD NOILOV
670'053 00'9v'5ZL$ | 4 QUVHOR _YOLLITOd NOILVHOJH0D VY| 805694000

.,....U_Osmw._g.—. Lwhjm,mm._._. . QWeN ajeplpued mEmZ mmuu_EEOU Q_ mwuu_EEn_uQ
9002/S1/¥0 dANISUaS uoNI8[3 UON ATHILIVND TiddV 9002
_ poday uonenos) aAs)ag 0} uoseay

"UOISSILWOD UONO3| |esapa4
Wd vL:L 9002/6L/19

EH)

b2 2 o -
CBUiTo

oh
]
(0

£~ £ ™
b e O

£
|



€ jo z 9beq

331 LINNOD
SNIDOIH NOILOV WOILITOd
00'959'7$ £zL'selL$ 14 9002/0L/S 00'25¢'265$ SANVI Gy T¥OO1 SHIALLIAWYILS| §6£252000 | 98YL
, 30009 _
00°002$ 951'02$ (174 9002/5/S 00'986'ZL1$ NIUUVYM OVd JHOHS| 80E0LPO0D | S8l
AINNDIOW
00°089%$ 9v9'se$ 4 9002/6/5 00°0SE'vC)$ 31993d OVd JWV4 40 TIvH WVOLLITOd|  9v180¥000 | 28vL
_ . HLNV ]
00°005°Z$ L26'88¢ ¥4 9002/9/S 00°561'€92$ AYVA SW aNNd AYNINIO IX3N|  Z¥6EPE00D | I8Vl
. (DVdLVAHM)
IT3LLIWNOD NOILOY
- "IN N3NVa IVYIILITOd SHIMOYED LVIHM
00°0Z€$ viL'LES 9 900Z/1 2/ 00°€61'0ZL$ 'M00dd00 40 NOILYIDOSSY TVNOILVN| ¥966€L000 | 08Y)
ovd
s YNVNPTEYIN TYOITaW ddin,
VIdWYY HO OVd YNVNrIYYN TvoIa3an
00°09v$ avL'9c$ €L 9002Z/82/ 00ZL0'POLS a 14380y 103roYd ADIOd YNVNIRIVIN| _ Z8868£000 | S/vL
I3LLINNOD
HOVENIYHIA 1 NOLLOV TVOLLTOd|
00'02¢$ 168'G2$ 9 900zZ/\ 2/ 00°/GZ'€LL$ N AMYIN _NOLLYHOJHOO HAVYDYIINI| 167102000 | €ip)

Sidd34 40 SANIYS

281642000

900¢2/92/v
aje] sAe( |ale(q 1digoay

052962 | L1018

Ajjeuad
Wd 711 900Z/61/9

A awWeN 29RIWWo)| gl 2aniwwo)

awep ajepipue)d

F A sl i il - e ==
LaTDunzdnpri=ss

G



[
(¥
0
23
&0
WA

™

o
<)
£Y
all

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20463 _ SEN SITIVE

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL Monday, JUne 19, 2006 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Thursday, June 22,2006  4:00

COMMISSIONER: LENHARD, MASON, TONER, von SPAKOVSKY, WALTHER, WEINTRAUB

~ SUBJECT: Administrative Fine Program Reason to Believe

Recommendation — 2006 April Quarterly Report.
Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director
Reports Analysis Division dated June 19, 2006.

() | approve the recommendation(s)

() | object to the recommendation(s)

() | am recused from voting.

() No vote by ballot.

COMMENTS:

DATE: SIGNATURE:

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fine Program Reason To
Believe Recommendation - 2006 April
Quarterly Report:

CITIZENS FOR JOE KENNEDY 1988,
and Kennedy, Christopher as treasurer;

ALLEN W MCCULLOCH MD FOR US
SENATE, and R NELSON FRANSE as
treasurer;

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE NORTH
AMERICA POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and KATHLEEN SMITH
as treasurer; _

SHORE PAC, and WARREN GOODE as
treasurer;

AAI CORPORATION POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD F
CHRIST as treasurer;

S N N N Nan e Name”

SN’ e N’

AF# 1461

AF# 1454

AF# 1467

' AF# 1485

AF# 1453
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 22, 2006

AMERICAN INTELLECTUAL _
PROPERTY LAW ASSOCIATION
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY PAC, and
MICHAEL K. KIRK as treasurer;

ARPAC, and Brooks, B. Jeffrey Mr. Esq. as
treasurer,

COHEN & GRIGSBY POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES F
CINQUIE as treasurer;

DIAGEO NORTH AMERICA INC.
EMPLOYEES' POLITICAL
PARTICIPATION COMMITTEE, and
RICCI, JAMES as treasurer;

FRIENDS OF FERRIS, and ROBERT A.
BOYCE as treasurer;

INTERGRAPH CORPORATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
KERRY M FEHRENBACH as treasurer;
MARIJUANA POLICY PROJECT
MEDICAL MARIJUANA PAC OR MPP
MEDICAL MARIJUANA PAC, and
Kampia, Robert as treasurer;

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF WHEAT
GROWERS POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (WHEATPAC), and
Coppock, Daren Mr. as treasurer;

NEXT CENTURY FUND, and MS MARY
FAUTH as treasurer;

POLITICAL HALL OF FAME PAC, and
Mc Kinney, Debbie Ms as treasurer;
STEAMFITTERS LOCAL 475
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
James Higgins as treasurer;

' N N N N’ N’

(A A AN A S A A A A A

(P A S T W N S T

AF# 1455
AF# 1456
AF# 1462
AF# 1466

AF# 1468

AF# 1473

AF# 1475

AF# 1480

AF# 1481
AF# 1482

AF# 1486

Page 2
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Federal Election Commission Page 3
Certification for Administrative Fines '
June 22, 2006

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby
certify that on June 22, 2006 the Commission took the following actions on the -

Administrative Fine Program Reason To Believe Recommendation - 2006 April

" Quarterly Report as recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum

dated June 19, 2006, on the following committees:

AF#1461 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that CITIZENS
FOR JOE KENNEDY 1988, and Kennedy, Christopher as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners
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Federal Election Commission . - Page 4

Certification for Administrative Fines
June 22, 2006

Lenhard, Mason, Toner, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF#1454 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that ALLEN W
MCCULLOCH MD FOR US SENATE, and R NELSON FRANSE as treasurer violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would
be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners
Lenhard, Mason, Toner, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision. ’ ’
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 22, 2006

Page 5

AF#1467 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that FRESENIUS
MEDICAL CARE NORTH AMERICA POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
KATHLEEN SMITH as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner, von
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1485 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SHORE PAC,
and WARREN GOODE as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner, von '
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1453 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that AAI
CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD F CHRIST as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner, von Spakovsky, Walther, and
Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. :

AF#1455 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that AMERICAN
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY LAW ASSOCIATION INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
PAC, and MICHAEL K. KIRK as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner,
von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1456 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that ARPAC, and
Brooks, B. Jeffrey Mr. Esq. as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
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Federal Election Commission ' ' , -Page 6
Certification for Administrative Fines
June 22, 2006

(2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner, voh
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1462 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that COHEN &
GRIGSBY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES F CINQUE as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram.
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1466 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that DIAGEO
NORTH AMERICA INC. EMPLOYEES' POLITICAL PARTICIPATION
COMMITTEE, and RICCI, JAMES as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner,
von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1468 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that FRIENDS OF
FERRIS, and ROBERT A. BOYCE as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner,
von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1473 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that INTERGRAPH
CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and KERRY M
FEHRENBACH as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner, von
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1475 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that MARITUANA
POLICY PROJECT MEDICAL MARIJUANA PAC OR MPP MEDICAL
MARIJUANA PAC, and Kampia, Robert as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make
a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated
on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner
von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.




L
UB
14
(o)
o
)
~d
ol
)
o

Federal Election Commission : Page 7
Certification for Administrative Fines '
June 22, 2006

AF#1480 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION OF WHEAT GROWERS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(WHEATPAC), and Coppock, Daren Mr. as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make
a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated
on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner,
von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1481 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that NEXT
CENTURY FUND, and MS MARY FAUTH as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard,
Mason, Toner, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted afﬁrmatlvely for the
decision.

AF#1482 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that POLITICAL
HALL OF FAME PAC, and Mc Kinney, Debbie Ms as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard,
Mason, Toner, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF#1486 Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that :
STEAMFITTERS LOCAL 475 POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and James
Higgins as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that
the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate mailgram. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner, von Spakovsky, Walther,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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Certification for Administrative Fines
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

June 27, 2006

Kerry M Fehrenbach

.. Intergraph Corporation Political Action Committee
" 170 Graphics Drive

ISG Mailstop IW 1501
Madison, AL 35758

C00201491
AF#: 1473

Dear Kerry M Fehrenbach:

The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act"), requires that your
committee file an April Quarterly Report of Receipts and Disbursements in a calendar year
during which there is a regularly scheduled election. This report, covering the period through
March 31st, shall be filed no later than April 15th. 2 U.S.C. 434(a). You were previously
notified of the due date for this report. Records at the Federal Election Commission ("FEC")
indicate that this report was filed on 4/21/2006, 6 days late.

The Act was further amended in 1999 to permit the FEC to impose civil money
penalties for violations of the reporting requirements of 2 U.S.C. 434(a). 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(4).
On 6/22/2006, the FEC found that there is reason to believe ("RTB") that Intergraph Corporation
Political Action Committee and you, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) by failing to file
timely this report on or before April 15th. Based on the FEC's schedules of civil money
penalties at 11 C.F.R. 111.43, the amount of your civil money penalty calculated at the RTB
stage is $320. Itis due by 8/1/2006 and is based on these factors:

Election Sensitivity of Report: Not Election Sensitive
Level of Activity: $ 25891

Number of Days Late: 6

Number of Previous Civil Money Penalties Assessed: 0

To Pay the Calculated Civil Money Penalty

To pay the calculated civil money penalty, send the enclosed remittance and your
payment to the FEC at the address on page 3. Upon receipt of your payment, the FEC will send
you a final determination letter.

To Challenge the RTB Finding and/or Calculated Civil Money Penalty

To challenge the RTB finding and/or calculated civil money penalty, you must submit a
written response, including the AF# found on page one, to the FEC's Office of Administrative
Review, 999 E Street, NW, Washington, DC 20463. Your response must be received by
8/1/2006. Your written response must include the reason(s) why you are challenging the RTB
finding and/or calculated civil money penalty. The FEC will only consider challenges that are
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existence of extraordinary circumstances that persisted for more than 48 hours that were beyond
your control and prevented you from filing the report in a timely manner. Your response must
include the factual basis supporting the reason(s) and supporting documentation. The FEC
strongly encourages that documents be submitted in the form of affidavits or declarations.
Examples of circumstances that will not be considered extraordinary include, but are not limited
to, negligence, problems with vendors or contractors, staff illness, computer failures and similar
circumstances. 11 C.F.R. 111.35(b)(1)(iii) and (4).

Your failure to raise an argument in a timely fashion during the administrative process
shall be deemed a waiver of your right to present such argument in a petition to the district court
under 2 U.S.C. 437g. 11 C.F.R. 111.38.

If you intend to be represented by counsel, please advise the Office of Administrative
Review. You should provide, in writing, the name, address and telephone number of your
counsel and authorize counsel to receive notifications and communications relating to this
challenge and imposition of the calculated civil money penaity.

If You Do Not Pay The Calculated Civil Money Penalty or Submit a Challenge

If you do not pay the calculated civil money penalty or submit a written response, the
FEC will assume that the preceding factual allegations are true and make a final determination
that Intergraph Corporation Political Action Committee and you, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess a civil money penalty.

Unpaid civil money penalties assessed through the Administrative Fine regulations will
be subject to the Debt Collection Act of 1982("DCA")as amended by the Debt Collection
Improvement Act of 1996, 31 U.S.C. 3701 et seq. The FEC may take any and all appropriate
action authorized and required by the DCA, as amended, including transfer to the U.S.
Department of the Treasury for collection. 11 C.F.R. 111.45.

This matter was generated based on information ascertained by the FEC in the normal
course of carrying out its supervisory responsibilities. 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(2). It will remain
confidential in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(4)(B) and 437g(a)(12)(A) until it is placed on
the public record in accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.42, unless you notify the FEC in writing that
you wish the matter to be made public.

Additional information on the FEC's administrative fine program, including the final
regulations, is located at the FEC's website at www.FEC.gov. If you have questions regarding
the payment of the calculated civil money penalty, please contact Shara Coutourier in the
Reports Analysis Division at our toll free number (800)424-9530 (at the prompt press 5) or
(202)694-1130. If you have questions regarding the submission of a challenge, please contact
the Office of Administrative Review at our toll free number (800)424-9530 (press 0, then ext.
1660) or (202)694-1660.

Sincerely,

RELEIDN

Robert D. Lenhard
Vice-Chairman
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ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

In accordance with the schedule of penalties at 11 C.F.R. 111.43, the amount of your civil
money penalty calculated at RTB is $320 for the 2006 April Quarterly Report.

Please mail this remittance with a check or money order made payable to the Federal
Election Commission to the following address:

Federal Election Commission
P.O. Box 979058
St. Louis, MO 63197-9000

If you choose to send your remittance and payment by courier or overnight delivery,
please use this address:

U.S. Bank - Government Lockbox

FEC #979058

1005 Convention Plaza

Attn: Government Lockbox, SL-MO-C2GL
St. Louis, MO 63101

The remittance and your payment are due by 8/1/2006. Upon receipt of your remittance
and payment, the FEC will send you a final determination letter.

PAYMENTS BY PERSONAL CHECK

Personal checks will be converted into electronic funds transfers (EFTS). Your account
will be electronically debited for the amount on your check, usually within 24 hours, and the
debit will appear on your regular statement. We will destroy your original check and keep a
copy of it. In case the EFT cannot be processed for technical reasons, you authorize us to
process the copy in lieu of the original check. Should the EFT not be completed because of
insufficient funds, we may try to make the transfer twice.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELOW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

FOR: Intergraph Corporation Political Action Committee
FEC ID#: C00201491

AF#: 1473

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 8/1/2006

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: § 320
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 100b AUG 28+ A o 4o

August 25, 2006

MEMORANDUM |
TO: THE COMMISSION - .
THROUGH: PATRINA M. CLARK
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSONOYS
ASSISTANT STAFF/DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAM - FINAL '
DETERMINATION RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2006
APRIL QUARTERLY REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2006 April
Quarterly Report. The first list represents the committees that have paid the civil money
penalty and the second list represents those committees that have not paid. The
committees that have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the
Commission’s RTB finding to remit payment. -

In accordance with 11 CFR 111.34 and 11 CFR 111.40, the Commission shall
send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penalty. "
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RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determination that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached reports violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the final civil money penalties so
indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Monday, Augqust 28, 2006 _ 11:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Thursday, August 31, 2006 _ 4:00

COMMISSIONER: LENHARD, MASON, TONER, von SPAKOVSKY, WALTHER, WEINTRAUB

SUBJECT: Administrative Fine Program - Final Determination
Recommendation For The 2006 April Quarterly Report
Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director, Reports
Analysis Division dated August 25, 2006.

() | approve the recommendation(s)
() | object to the recommendation(s)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() I approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() I am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All baliots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION

SENSITIVE
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fine Program - Final
Determination Recommendation For The
2006 April Quarterly Report: Intergraph
Corporation Political Action Committee
and Kerry M Fehrenbach, as treasurer.

AF 1473

A A S S S

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby
certify that on September 01, 2006, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to
take the following actions in AF 1473:

1. Make a final determination that Intergraph Corporation Political

Action Committee and Kerry M Fehrenbach, as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the final civil money penalty of $320.
2. Send the appropriate letters.

Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, Toner, von Spakovsky, Walther, and

Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

W@M % Y. ,{Qﬁw,
Date Mary W. Dpve

Secretary ¢f the Commission
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

September 5, 2006

Kerry M. Fehrenbach, Treasurer

Intergraph Corporation Political Action Committee
170 Graphics Drive

Madison, AL 35758

C00201491
AF#: 1473

Dear Kerry M. Fehrenbach,

On 6/22/2006, the Federal Election Commission ("FEC") found reason to believe
("RTB") that Intergraph Corporation Political Action Committee and you, as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) for filing late or failing to file the 2006 April Quarterly Report. By mailgram
dated 6/27/2006 the FEC sent you notification of the RTB finding that included a civil money
penalty calculated at the RTB stage of $320 in accordance with the schedule of penalties at 11
CF.R. 11143,

On 8/3/2006, the FEC received payment of your civil money penalty calculated at the
RTB stage. Therefore, the FEC made a final determination on 8/31/2006 that you, as treasurer,
and Intergraph Corporation Political Action Committee violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a), assessed a civil
money penalty in the amount of $320 in accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.43, and voted to close
the file.

The confidentiality provisions at 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(12) no longer apply and this matter
is now public. The file will be made a part of the public record pursuant to 11 C.F.R. 111.42(b).
Although the file must be placed on the public record within thirty (30) days from the date of the
Commission's notification, this could occur at anytime following certification of the
Commission's vote.

If you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact Patricia Carmona on our
toll free number (800) 424-9530 (at the prompt press 5) or (202) 694-1130.

Sincerely,

/I AS T

Michael E. Toner
Chairman




FOR: Intergraph Corporation.itical Action Committee - | .
FEC ID#: C00201491

AF#: 1473

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 8/1/2006
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington DC 20463

 THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE #_[473
- DATE SCANNED M#/aé |
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